FAQs
Groups of Bidders
Q1: How does this criterion apply to consortia bids?
A: All members of a consortium are required to provide the information required. See
standard SQ guidance in PPN 08/16 for further guidance on groups of bidders.
New Entrants
Q2. How do you assess a bidder’s payment history if they are new to the
market or are a special purpose vehicle (SPV) or joint venture (JV) set up for
the purpose of delivering the contract?
A. Any bidders (e.g. new entrants, SPVs or JVs) who do not have a payment history
record (as required by question 5) should not be disadvantaged in the procurement
and are able to explain their circumstances in their responses. New entrants to the
market will still be expected to demonstrate that they meet or (in the case of a bidder
that has not yet traded), will meet the requirements of questions 2, 3, 4 (if relevant).
For a JV, formed of a group of independent organisations, all members of the JV
should each respond to the questions (see question 1).
Construction Projects
Q3. How does this work with PAS91? These payment questions aren’t
included.
A. Where relevant, c ontracting authorities should continue to use the PAS91 PQQ for
works contracts (including the procurement of goods and services needed in relation
to the works). However, contracting authorities should consider whether this payment
selection criterion should be incorporated as a project specific question in PAS91 for
all in-scope organisations.
Framework Agreements
Q4. Does this criterion apply to Framework Agreements and Dynamic
Purchasing Systems?
Yes. It applies in relation to framework agreements and dynamic purchasing systems
but o
 nly where it is anticipated that the value of contracts awarded under the
framework agreement or dynamic purchasing system will be in excess of £5m per
annum (excluding VAT). Verification should take place both prior to entering into the
framework agreement/dynamic purchasing system and prior to entering into any
contract awarded under the framework agreement/dynamic purchasing system. We
recommend terms are included in the framework agreement allowing for this.
Q5. What about an extension to the term of the framework, can these questions
be added?
A. No. You cannot assess payment performance in the event of an extension to the
term of the framework. Payment performance can only be assessed at the beginning
of the procurement process, in the same way as for any other SQ.
Supply Chains

Q6. What happens if a bidder at the point of bidding does not have a supply
chain / use sub-contractors, but does at a later stage?
If this occurs after the procurement has concluded, then this is not relevant as the
contract will have already been awarded, although contract managers will still be
expected to monitor compliance with PCR 2015, regulation 113. If this occurs before
the contract is awarded, the bidder should be asked to provide a response to the
questions (to the extent that it can, given that it may not have a history of payments
to a supply chain / sub-contractors (see question 2)).
Q7. How does this fit with a supply chain finance (or similar) scheme?
A. Bidders must demonstrate that they meet the payment terms set out in question 4
and the standard set out in question 5. If a subcontractor to the bidder chooses to
enter into a supply chain finance agreement in order to be paid earlier than the
payment terms set out in question 4 or the standard set out in question 5, then that
would be acceptable and a matter for the subcontractor. However, suppliers should
not be required to do so in order for the payment terms or period for payment to meet
the required standard. This is consistent with the reporting requirements under the
Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 (“SBEE”) and the Limited
Liability Partnerships Act 2000 (“LLPA”) and further guidance can be found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-payment-practices-and-perfor
mance-reporting-requirements
Q8. What about contracts let under the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 or
the Defence and Security Public Contracts Regulations 2011? Does that mean
that I can’t ask these questions?
A. These questions were developed with the scope of the PCRs. However, you may
determine that these questions are applicable to procurements you are running using
different regulations. This is your commercial decision.
Q9. If an SME bids, do they have to respond?
A. Yes, these questions are applicable to any supplier regardless of size who bids for
a Government contract in excess of £5m per annum from 1 September 2019. Smaller
suppliers may not have published data available via the BEIS reporting requirements,
however if they are using a supply chain to deliver the contract they are still expected
to respond to the questions and to meet the required standard.
Statutory Reporting Requirement - ‘Duty to Report’
Q10. What if a bidder has filed responses in accordance with the Reporting on
Payment Practices and Performance Regulations 2017 - can this data be used?
A. Yes, provided it reflects the last two six month periods. The data will still need to
be verified as described in the guidance. Similarly, if bidders have filed/published
data as part of any other requirement, code, etc., this can be used provided it reflects
the last two six month periods.
Q11. What if the bidder is about to submit another 6 monthly payment report
shortly after the deadline for submitting the tender which would meet the 95%
in 60 days standard?
A. W
 here interim (unreported data) is available for the most recent 3 months or more,
this can also be accepted. For example, if a bidder's last report was submitted in July

for the period covering January to June and it is bidding for a contract in
October, it would be able to submit the previous 3 months worth of unreported data
(i.e. July, August, September) and this would count as a 'reporting period' (see
paragraph 8 of the Guidance). Payment performance would need to be calculated in
the same way as for a 6 monthly payment report.

Q12. If a bidder who is not in scope of publishing payment data under the
Reporting on Payment Practices and Performance Regulations 2017 submits a
response to the tender in January 2020 (for example) are they expected to
provide data covering the 12 month period from January 2019 to December
2019.
A. This depends. Bidders who are not required to publish data in accordance with the
regulations should still submit their data in two (six month) periods in line with the
BEIS Guidance to Reporting Payment Practices and Performance
-h
 ttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/649941/payment-practices-performance-reporting-requirements-oct-2
017.pdf. So if a financial year started on the 5th of a month, the last day of that
reporting period would be the 4th of the month, six months later. The second
reporting period starts on the day after the first period ends, and runs until the end of
the financial year. Example: if a business’ financial year starts on the 1 January, their
first reporting period would begin on 1 January, and end on 30 June. Their second
reporting period would start on 1 July and end on 31 December. In these
circumstances, when submitting a bid in January 2020, the bidder would submit data
for the period 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. However, if their financial year
commences, say, on 1 April, then they should submit data for the periods 1 October
2018 - 31 March 2019 (being the second 6 monthly reporting period for the year
commencing 1 April 2018) and 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019. As for bidders
who are required to publish their data in accordance with the regulations, the same
principle as set out in question 11 applies and bidders could also chose to submit
data for the period October 2019 to December 2019 and this would count as a
reporting period (because it covers a period of 3 months or more since the last 6
monthly reporting period (see paragraph 8 of the Guidance).
Q13. What if its parent company or another company within its group has filed
responses - can this data be used?
A. Responses are required from the legal entity tendering for the contract in question.
If it has already filed data, then (subject to the answer to question 10) this may be
used in the response. However, if the entity that has filed data is n
 ot the same entity
tendering for the contract, then the filed data will not be relevant and the bidder must
respond to the questions.
Q14. What if the bidder’s response to question 5 does not match the payment
data publicly available online?
A. In the event that the response to question 5 does not appear consistent with
payment data that is publicly available, the contracting authority should clarify this
with the bidder.
Q15. If the bidder removes intercompany payments from the total headline
figure, won’t that mean this figure won’t match their reported data under the
RPPP Regulations 2017?

A. Yes. The published data includes intercompany payments. Organisations are
encouraged, when filing their 6 monthly reports under the RPPP Regulations 2017, to
set out in the free text box what their payment performance would be if they removed
intercompany payments from their calculations. If they do so, the reported data will
then be completely transparent and consistent with the information they have
submitted in bidding.
Q16. When does the supplier start counting day 1 when calculating the
number of days in which it pays invoices? When does the clock start? (taken
from BEIS guidance on reporting)
A. Day 1 is the day after the date on which the bidder receives an invoice or has
notice, by other means, of the amount to pay (see response to question 20), and the
period ends when the supplier receives the payment.
Invoices
Q17. When reporting on percentage of invoices – does this include disputed
invoices or is this undisputed invoices only?
A. This includes all invoices. This approach is consistent with the RPPP Regulations
2017 whereby businesses include disputed invoices which fall due in the reporting
period and are not paid.
Q18. What if there is no invoice presented for payment? Should situations
where payment is due but there is no invoice be counted?
A. Yes. If there is no invoice, then the date when payment would otherwise become
due is the relevant date. This could arise, for example, where payment is triggered by
the receipt of a timesheet setting out work carried out under an on-going contract for
services. These should still be included as part of the response, with the first day
after receipt of the timesheet being equivalent to the first day after receipt of an
invoice. This is consistent with the reporting requirements under the SBEE or the
LLPA and further guidance can be found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-payment-practices-and-perfor
mance-reporting-requirements
Q19. Is it percentage by value or volume of invoices in response to question 5?
A. By volume. This is consistent with the requirement to publish under the RPPP
Regulations 2017.
Action Plans and the Prompt Payment Code
Q20. If a bidder has already completed an action plan for CICM because they
are not meeting the code’s core standard of 95% in 60 days – can the same one
be submitted?
A. If a bidder has an action plan already developed and shared with CICM they can
provide this one so long as it meets all the 5 criteria set out in the guidance.
Q21. If a bidder does not complete some of the 5 key criteria within the action
plan, will they still pass?
A.No. The bidder must submit a plan which meets all 5 criteria in order to pass.

Q22. A bidder is expected to explain why it is not paying all their invoices
within agreed terms in order to pass. If they need to submit an action plan, do
they also need to set out what steps they are taking to rectify this situation?
A. Yes. See para 9 of guidance. If you are required to submit an action plan because
you are not meeting 95% in 60 days – then this plan must also include what actions
you are taking to improve payment of your suppliers in the event you are not paying
all invoices within the agreed terms.

Q.23 If a bidder is listed as suspended / removed on the Prompt Payment Code
– does this mean they are excluded from the bid?
A. No. Whilst suspension from the PPC is an indication that the supplier’s
performance has fallen below the required standard, this should not be used as a
simple pass/fail. Bids must (unless otherwise excluded) all be assessed against the
selection questions. This includes, where the bidder does not meet the 95%
threshold but does meet the 75% threshold, taking into account an explanation as to
why bidders are not meeting the required standard and their proposed action plan.
Q.24 What about multinational deals – are these exempt from the measure?
These are long standing deals with other large firms where both parties are
mutually content with the terms set.
A. No, these are not exempt from the measure. Even in situations where the two
immediate parties might be comfortable with longstanding terms beyond 60 days, we
cannot guarantee that the supply chain at some point is not impacted. Bidders have
the opportunity to provide an explanation and to propose remedial action if the
circumstances in question 24 apply.
Q.25 Is the 75% threshold fixed, or will it increase?
A. The 75% threshold will be ratcheted up over time until it reaches 95%. Cabinet
Office will update the guidance to alert departments and bidders as and when it is to
be raised.

